1953

George N. Anderson et al v. Marie T. Johnson and Chester N. Johnson : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Two matters are involved in this appeal. The first relates to the claimed error on the part of the court in granting a motion for a change of venue and transferring the cause from Box Elder County, the residence of de-

fendants, to Cache County for trial. The other question involves alleged errors in the trial itself. For the sake of clarity, we are, therefore, discussing first the matters relating to the change of venue, after which we will discuss the so-called merits on appeal.

This case was filed in Box Elder County, the residence of the defendants and also the county in which the land is situated. The case was previously tried in Box Elder County and a verdict returned in favor of the defendants. On appeal to this court the verdict was reversed for the reason that the trial court incorrectly construed the so-called dead man's statute and the case was sent back for a new trial.

On July 31, 1952 the plaintiff filed a notice and motion for change of venue. The motion was supported by an affidavit signed by the plaintiffs and also an affidavit of Walter G. Mann, their attorney. Counter affidavits were filed by the defendants. Judge Jones requested Judge Jeppson of the third district to hear the motion for change of venue. Upon the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Jeppson entered an oral order granting the motion and ordering the case transferred to Cache County.

STATEMENT OF POINTS
WITH REFERENCE TO THE CHANGE OF
VENUE UPON WHICH DEFENDANTS RELY
FOR A REVERSAL OF THIS CAUSE.

Point 1. The order transferring the trial from Box Elder County to Cache County is erroneous and void because:

- A. No valid judgment was entered herein transferring said cause.
- B. The evidence does not support the judgment or minute entry, if such constitutes a valid order of judgment, granting plaintiffs' motion for change of venue.

We shall discuss these matters in the order suggested.

A. As previously noted, Judge Jones disqualified himself and requested Judge Jeppson of the third district to hear the motion, which was heard on August 12, 1952. At the conclusion of the hearing Judge Jeppson entered an oral decision granting the motion. See transcript on hearing for change of venue, Page 77. See also minute book 23, Page 95, Tr. 22. Thereafter, on August 20, 1952, Judge Jones, who had not participated in the hearing, entered a written order in the form of a judgment granting the motion and ordering the trial to be held in Cache County and directing the Clerk to transmit the files to the Clerk of said County. Tr. 23.

We contend that the written order entered by Judge Jones is a nullity. It is the same as though one judge of a district court presided at the trial of a cause and then another district judge thereafter entered and signed findings and judgment. Rule 58 (b) provides:

“Except as provided in subdivision (a) hereof and subdivision (b) (1) of Rule 55, all judgments shall be signed by the judge and filed with the clerk.”

The term "the judge" as used in this rule clearly means the judge who heard the cause. Rule 63 provides in effect that in the event of disability or disqualification of a judge before whom an action has been tried rendering him unable to perform his duties, *after a verdict is returned or findings of fact and conclusions of law are filed*, then another judge regularly sitting in or assigned to the court in which the action was tried may perform those duties, or he may grant a new trial.

It is not contended that Judge Jeppson was disqualified. The only question, therefore, is whether or not a written judgment in the form signed by Judge Jones, but which should have been signed by Judge Jeppson, was necessary in order to make the change of venue valid. We contend that such a judgment is necessary and evidently counsel for plaintiffs so construed the rules.

Rule 54 (a) defines a judgment as used in the rules to include "*a decree and any order from which an appeal lies.*"

It has been repeatedly been held by this court that an order granting or denying a motion for change of venue is an appealable order.

Buckle vs. Ogden Furniture
61 Utah, 559
216 Pac., 684

Cox vs. Dixie Power
72 Utah, 236
269 Pac., 100

Hale vs. Barker
70 Utah, 284
259 Pac., 1928

Schramm Johnson Drug Company vs. Cox
79 Utah, 276
9 P 2nd., 399

If, therefore, the order transferring the case for trial is a judgment within the definition of Rule 54, then under Rule 58 (b) it must be signed *by the judge* (meaning of course Judge Jeppson) and filed with the Clerk. It was reversible error for the files to have been transferred to Cache County without such a judgment being entered herein.

B. The evidence does not support the minute entry granting the change of venue and ordering the case transferred to Cache County for trial. Plaintiffs filed their motion pursuant to the provisions of Section 78-13-9, Subdivision (2) which provides:

“The court may, on motion, change the place of trial in the following cases: **** (2) when there is reason to believe that an impartial trial cannot be had in the county designated in the complaint.”

The motion was supported by only two affidavits:

- (a) Affidavit of the plaintiffs, and
- (b) Affidavit of counsel.

While the affidavits attempted to set forth several grounds; namely, many relatives, prior employment, etc.,

yet the court granted the order solely on the ground with reference to the subject of communism. Tr. 78. Let us then examine the evidence relating to this subject as contained in the transcript of the evidence:

Plaintiff's affidavit stated merely that the defendant, Marie T. Johnson had maliciously spread rumors that plaintiff, George N. Anderson and his wife were Communists and that said false statements had been widely scattered in Box Elder County. The affidavit of counsel merely stated that on an occasion a neighbor of Marie Johnson accosted him in a grocery store and made some disparaging remarks about him if he undertook to represent the plaintiffs.

Defendant Marie Johnson filed a counter affidavit in which, among other things, she denied positively that she had made any such charges and denied that any prejudice existed in Box Elder County against the plaintiffs to her knowledge. She further alleged that Box Elder County was the second largest county in the State of Utah; that there are approximately twenty thousand residents therein; that in her opinion no prejudice existed in Box Elder County which would prevent plaintiffs from having a fair and impartial trial. The matters set forth in plaintiff's affidavit having been denied by defendants, this then formed the issue to be heard and tried by the court. That issue was whether or not there was reason to believe that an impartial trial could not be had in Box Elder County, by reason of the alleged rumors that Plaintiff Anderson was a Communist, or sympathetic with communism.

Plaintiff George N. Anderson was then called as a witness to testify in support of his motion. He testified generally as to various and sundry towns and cities scattered throughout Box Elder County with respect to his relatives and his acquaintances generally. He inferred that because of numerous relatives and the fact that he had previously worked for the United States Government a number of years ago in the relief department, that there were people who disliked him. However, the court did not base its decision upon any of these matters but granted the motion solely on the question of alleged communistic influences. Plaintiff in his testimony in chief never even mentioned the word communism and the only time the subject was mentioned is found on Page 72 of the transcript in answer to questions propounded by the court himself, wherein, over defendants' objection, the court permitted the plaintiff to state that in talking to two of the former jurors in the trial he obtained certain information. The court asked him what the jurors told him and he answered:

“Mr. Beecher told me that he understood from what my sister was telling around town that I was a Communist. Therefore, he had no sympathy with me on the trial.”

The defendants emphatically denied that they had ever spread such rumors.

The issue which the trial court was called upon to decide was whether or not there existed in fact bias and prejudice in the minds of the citizenry of Box Elder County by reason of rumored communistic affiliations by

one of the plaintiffs which would prevent plaintiffs from having a fair and impartial trial. The evidence disclosed, and this court judicially knows, that Box Elder County is the second largest county territorily in the State of Utah. The evidence further shows, and this court judicially knows, that there are many cities and towns in Box Elder County; that the county has a population of approximately twenty thousand people disbursed over a very large area and that prospective jurors are drawn from these various towns or territories. Not one witness was called except plaintiff himself to testify, nor were there any affidavits presented from any one other than plaintiff or his counsel. If any such rumors existed there certainly was a complete lack of evidence to sustain the same. Plaintiff himself was permitted, over defendants' objections, to answer the following question:

“THE COURT: ****You can ask him about the general reputation.”

“Q. Do you feel that your reputation in Box Elder County is such that it would prejudice you for a fair trial?”

“THE COURT: I'll let him answer. I don't think it's worth much. You might ask him in detail what his reputation is. He can answer that question as to whether he thinks it would hurt him, but I don't think it's of much weight, because it's a conclusion.”

“Q. Do you think it would hurt you?”

“A. I think my reputation is both good and bad

in the county. I have held some rather high and responsible positions and I've done a lot of community organizing activities during the war which I think were beneficial and which brought a great deal of praise from people in different parts of the county; and, as I say, I've dealt with other people who definitely don't like me. I do think my reputation has deteriorated since I left here, among my close friends."

This is the first time the writer has ever participated in a motion for change of venue where affidavits have not been procured or witnesses produced from various and sundry citizens residing in various parts of the county stating facts upon which a court could draw the inference that there probably does exist a bias or prejudice among the citizens generally which would preclude the movant from having a fair trial. Can it be said that there is any substantial evidence that rumors of communistic affiliations do exist without producing any evidence from citizens or prospective jurors to the effect that such rumors are in fact circulating in and about the county? Can a plaintiff himself merely say that he doesn't believe that he can have a fair trial by reason of bias and prejudice alleged to exist in the county against him without any evidence whatsoever to support his opinion? The only reference to alleged communistic influence was the reference to what the juror Beecher is represented to have told plaintiff after the first trial, but even this juror Beecher was not called as a witness. It was at most a mere hearsay declaration on the part of the plaintiff and certainly what Beecher said did not prove in any way that there was bias

or prejudice existing in the mind of the public generally. If such a statement was made by the juror Beecher and if it is admissible in evidence, Beecher would be the proper person to call as a witness to testify to those facts or to what he knew about the matter. Nor do we think it was proper to admit this testimony. It is against public policy and an interference with the orderly conduct of trial to permit jurors to reveal what is said in a jury room.

Wheat vs. D. & R. G.
250 P. 2nd., 932

Hepworth vs. Covey Bros. Amusement Company
97 Utah, 205
91 P. 2nd., 507

But even though admissible, it amounted only to this: That a juror in explaining his verdict said he understood from what my sister was telling around town that I was a Communist. No contention was made that the matter was discussed in the jury room. From all that appears, the juror Beecher is alleged to have claimed that he had heard some rumors to the effect that the defendant had told around Brigham City, which is only a small segment of Box Elder County, that the plaintiff was a Communist. This might have disqualified Beecher as a juror if he were recalled to jury duty but it certainly fell far short of proving that there did in fact exist in Box Elder County a bias or prejudice against the plaintiff.

In fairness to the sister, Mrs. Johnson, may I again refer to the fact that she denied ever having made any such statement to any person whatsoever and I think it is

fair to assert that the sister does not believe for a minute that her brother is either affiliated with or has any communistic beliefs.

If a court can grant a motion for a change of venue on such flimsy evidence as was presented in this case, then the defendants' statutory right to be tried in the county of his or her residence might just as well be abrogated. The right of the defendants to be tried in the county of his or her residence is a very substantial right and this court has repeatedly held that the denial of this right constitutes prejudicial error. See cases above referred to.

We contend, therefore, that the granting of the motion for change of venue is not supported by any competent material evidence and also that the failure of the court to enter a written judgment both constituted reversible error in this case. We further contend that for these reasons alone this cause should be reversed and the Clerk of Cache County be directed to return the files to Box Elder County for a new trial.

APPELLANTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following facts are not disputed: Lorenzo W. Anderson, now deceased, is the Father of plaintiffs George N. Anderson and Lorenzo W. Anderson, Jr. (hereinafter referred to as "Renee") and the defendant Marie T. Johnson. His wife died in about the year 1937 and he never remarried. Except for the conveyances hereinafter referred to, he was the owner of a house and an irregular shaped

lot known as the family home in Brigham City, an irrigated farm consisting of approximately twenty eight acres at East Garland, a dry farm consisting of something in excess of four hundred acres located at Promontory, a second home hereinafter referred to as the Christensen place, and several lots in Brigham City upon which there were no buildings but which were cultivated. Prior to 1943 decedent, who was a surveyor by profession, had executed numerous deeds to all or a portion of this property either to his wife or daughter, or both, which said deeds the deceased retained in his possession. About March of 1943 deceased was living alone in the family home. His son Renee was married, had finished his law training and was then employed by the F.B.I. His family was living at South Dakota. The decedent's daughter Marie was married and then living in Salt Lake City where her husband was employed and his son George was then living in Brigham City in a home owned by him which was located on the rear end of the family lot. The decedent was then about sixty four years of age and he was in excellent health.

In about March of 1943, and apparently without consulting any members of his family, the decedent prepared three deeds in his own handwriting. One deed named Renee and his wife as grantees and described the Garland property, a building lot to the rear of the family home (the dimensions of this lot were never described in the evidence) and an undivided one-third interest in the dry farm at Promontory. The deed to George and his wife described the Christensen place and one-third of the dry farm. The deed to defendant Marie and her husband

described the family home (less the lot included in Renee's deed) and one-third interest in the dry farm. After the deceased had prepared these deeds he went to the office of his nephew, William E. Davis, a practicing attorney in Brigham City, and signed the deeds as grantor and Mr. Davis thereupon took his acknowledgment. The deceased then took the deeds and put them in what is referred to as the cubby hole or small compartment in a roll-top desk which was in his bedroom in the home where he was residing. There was no reservation of any life estate contained in the deeds, although the deceased was thoroughly familiar with conveyancing and understood the meaning and import of a life estate. The deeds were never recorded.

At about the same time the deceased likewise prepared deeds to the various town lots wherein he conveyed the same to his grandchildren. These deeds were all recorded by the deceased at the time or shortly after their execution and thereafter the deceased would account to his grandchildren for crops grown on or produced upon their own individual lots and after deducting for taxes and tithing he would send the residue annually to each grandchild.

With respect to the other unrecorded three deeds to his sons and daughter, the deceased continued to handle the property described in said deeds in exactly the same manner as he had handled them previously. He executed a twelve year lease to Promontory to his son in law and daughter. He leased the Garland farm to a Mr. Garfield for a period of ten years and collected the rents and income therefrom. He and his brother Cephus owned ad-

joining properties at Garland and on August 22, 1948 he and Cephus entered into an agreement in writing abandoning a certain right of way and exchanging the same for a new right of way. See Exhibit "L-F", Tr. 147-149. He paid the taxes on all of the property and paid all expenses incident to the upkeep of said property. He rented the Christensen property, collected the rents therefrom, made necessary repairs for the tenant and mortgaged this property. In the making of the leases, mortgage and right of way exchange he makes no reference whatsoever to any ownership of the property other than himself. No reason is suggested as to why he would want to completely and irrevocably divest himself of all of his property.

In about 1945 the deceased approached his son in law and daughter in Salt Lake City and suggested that his tenant on Promontory did not care to renew his lease because two of the lessee's sons were then in the Army and further suggested that he was lonesome and tired of living alone and suggested that they come to Brigham City, live in the home and take care of him and that in return he would lease them Promontory. A written lease for a period of twelve years was then executed and the defendants severed their employment and moved into the family home with the deceased and leased the Promontory dry farm for twelve years.

In about 1946 the decedent suffered his first heart attack. Then later he had prostate trouble which required an operation at St. Benedict's Hospital in Ogden. Later on he suffered a stroke and for the period from August, 1946 until the latter part of 1948, the deceased was very

ill. There were times during this period when he was irrational but at other times he was completely normal. However, the nature of his illness was such that the defendants were required to constantly care for him. At times he lost control of his bowels and bladder and frequent changes of his bed were imperative. He also had to have a special diet and the task of taking care of him became very arduous. However, about the latter part of 1948 or the forepart of 1949 he began to improve and he improved steadily until very shortly before his death. He died June 22, 1949.

On or about the 24th day of July, 1947 the deceased made a will. It was prepared by the same attorney, William E. Davis, and was witnessed by deceased's brother Cephus and his brother in law, Mr. DeMars. The will was quite different from the terms of the three 1943 deeds. It provided that the defendants could purchase the Promontory farm for Ten Thousand Dollars; that this money was to go into the estate and that each male grandchild was to receive One Thousand Dollars upon becoming Eagle Scouts. The female grandchildren were to receive One Thousand Dollars each upon completion of one year of college and the balance was to go to the church for temple work. Renee was to have the irrigated farm and George, who had already received the Christensen property, was to get nothing. After the will was properly executed it was placed by the deceased with his other papers in his desk.

With respect to the Christensen property, it is admitted that George, after returning from the Navy, obtained employment with the Veterans' Administration in Salt

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