1953

George N. Anderson et al v. Marie T. Johnson and Chester N. Johnson : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Mr. Young says that two matters are involved in this appeal, one of which he claims is the transfer of the cause from Box Elder County to Cache County on a motion made for a change of venue and he having treated that matter first, we shall do likewise.

We deny that the order transferring the trial from Box Elder County to Cache County is erroneous and void. We further declare that if counsel for plaintiff felt that it was unjust his remedy was appeal and had to be perfected within the statutory time after the granting of the order. Also, that when he appeared in court in Logan and proceeded to trial without objection, that he thereby waived any objection to the jurisdiction of the court and having accepted its jurisdiction is bound by its decision. Also, if conflicting affidavits are filed those in favor of the prevailing party will be taken as true and the facts therein stated will be considered as established; and if a rational inference can

be drawn in favor of the course pursued by the lower court, its action will be affirmed.

ARGUMENT ON CHANGE OF VENUE

In regard to the change of venue. The notice and motion for change of venue (Rec. 11 and 12) were served upon counsel for the defendants on the 31st of July, 1952, and with the motion were filed affidavits (Rec. 13 to 17) in support of said motion. At said hearing Mr. Young filed counter affidavits (Rec. 18 to 21). At the end of the hearing (Rec. 77) the Court said:

"The Court will take judicial knowledge of the condition of the country with reference to the use of the word "Communist". I believe that in most of our communities many Communists have been pointed out and words passed around that certain individuals are Communists. I can refer you to a number in my home town that people claim are Communists that I have never met or seen, but I know where they live and who they are, and I believe that that would prejudice a person from having a fair trial if a person on the jury thought he was a Communist, particularly where the issue involved him and some of the members of his family that they may think are not Communists, and I believe the court should protect a man and do what he can to grant a fair trial. Under the affidavits that have been filed with reference to the subject of Communism, the court is of the opinion that the motion should be granted, even in view of the hardship that has been described the motion is granted and it's ordered that the case be transferred to Logan for trial in this District. Recess court."

The Clerk made the following order for change of venue (Rec. 22) :

August Term, 1952. Tuesday, the twelfth day of August, 1952.

Hon. Joseph G. Jeppson, Presiding.

No. 6859

George N. Anderson, and
Imogene T. Anderson, et al.,
Plaintiff,

—vs—

Marie T. Johnson and Chester
N. Johnson,

Defendants

ORDER CHANGE OF VENUE

The motion for change of Venue before the court at this time. George N. Anderson of the plaintiffs present in court with counsel Walter G. Mann, Esq., and Marie T. Johnson, one of the defendants present in court with counsel L. Roy B. Young. Opening statement made to the court by counsel for plaintiff and defendant. Plaintiff counsel calls George N. Anderson, sworn and testifies is cross examined by defense counsel. Defense counsel calls Marie T. Johnson, sworn and testified is cross examined. The matter is argued and submitted to the court for decision. The motion for change of venue is granted and the case Ordered transferred to Cache County for trial. (Minute Book 23, page 95).

Thereafter counsel for plaintiff prepared a written order of change of venue to be signed by Judge Joseph G. Jeppson and delivered the original and copy to the court to be forwarded to him at which time Judge Lewis Jones made certain written notations in the order and signed the order himself (Rec. 23). On the 21st day of August, 1952, the Clerk of the District Court of Box Elder County sent to LeRoy B. Young Esq., Attorney at Law, First Security Bank Building, Ogden, Utah, a copy of said order. Consequently we have an oral order granted on the 12th of August by Judge Jeppson; a written order for the purpose of reducing said oral order to writing signed by Judge Lewis Jones on the 20th day of August and notice of it given to LeRoy B. Young on the 21st day of August.

Attorney Young cites rule 63A which reads:

DISABILITY. If by reason of death, sickness, or other disability, a judge before whom an action has been tried is unable to perform the duties to be performed by the court under these rules after verdict is returned or Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law are filed, then any other judge regularly sitting in or assigned to the court in which the action was tried may perform those duties; but if such other judge is satisfied that he cannot perform those duties because he did not preside at the trial or for any other reason, he may in his discretion grant a new trial."

The record is silent why Judge Jones signed the order and a presumption arises in favor of its validity. The question might also arise, "Is it necessary to reduce the oral order to writing?" We find under Corpus Juris Vol. 67 page 206. Art. 346 the following:

"FORM AND CONTENTS:—The order may be in writ-in or oral, and it is not essential that it be signed. The order must comply with the statute, but a substantial compliance is sufficient. Mere clerical mistakes do not invalidate the order nor deprive the court to which the cause is sent of jurisdiction. The order must specify the County to which the cause is sent and show the cause for making it, but should not state the name of the Judge to try the case, nor need it fix a time for trial. The order should also show by whom it is requested, that it is supported by affidavit, and that in the court's opinion the cause for change is good."

The oral order of Judge Jeppson, mentioned above, met everyone of these requirements. Vol. 56 of American Jr. Pr. Art. 76 page 77 in regard to an order for the change of venue in effect reads as follows:

"ORDER FOR CHANGE AND EFFECT THEREOF:—A change of venue is ordinarily made by a formal order of the court designating the county to which the change is to be made, but may, for some causes at least, such as that the action was instituted in the wrong county, be made by order of the judge at chambers. An order may be effective to work a change of venue even though it does not specifically provide therefor or designate formally the county to which it is changed. It is undoubtedly the better practice to designate the county, but the omission to employ such explicit words will not work a reversal where it is entirely clear that the venue was in fact changed. The court to which change of venue is awarded is not without jurisdiction because of a clerical error in the order reciting that the venue of the cause is changed, which uses the words "court" instead of "cause". An entry nunc pro tunc of an order of change of venue at a term subsequent to that in which the order was made is proper in a case where the omission of the entry of the proper term was due to negligence in the Clerk. Although an accused has a right to be present at proceedings against him, it is not error for a court to grant a change of venue upon the request of the defendant in a felony case, in his absence."

And this same article goes on and discusses the matter. It further showing that if the parties, after the order was made, proceed to trial that they then submit to the venue and the court takes jurisdiction. Record 84 shows that the parties appeared on the 1st day of December, 1952, in the court in Logan. Mr. Young made no objection to the jurisdiction of the court, but proceeded at once to assist in the drawing of a jury for jury duty, and the case was then tried.

Mr. Young says the order is an appealable order and cites certain cases. We will agree that the order is appealable. One of the first cases in which this matter was In Re. Whitmore 35 Pac. 524. Then in the left hand column at the bottom of Page 525, it says:

"It appears that the First District Court, at Provo, made an order in this case, December 27, 1892, which reads as follows: "In this case the court on its own motion, orders, that this case to be transferred to the Third District Court, at Salt Lake City, for further proceedings." - - - - Our statute authorizes the court to change the place of trial upon its own motion, if the parties do not agree, but in that case the cause must be transferred to the nearest court. The presumption follows that the parties did not agree, and that there was good cause known by the judge for the transferring of the cause to the Third District Court."

In the Whitmore case the parties met and proceeded with their hearing through a referee, no objection being made to the jurisdiction of the court, similar to ours. Then in the middle of the page 525, in the right hand column, the court said:

"The order changing the place of trial from the First District Court was an appealable order, and, if erroneous, an appeal was the proper remedy to correct it."

Another early case on the same subject matter was Elliot vs. Whitmore et al, 37 Pac. page 461, and was determined on

the same state of facts.

Our statute Sec. 78-13-11 Utah Code Annotated 1953, reads:

“Duty of Clerk—Fees and costs—Effect on jurisdiction:—When an order is made transferring an action or proceeding for trial, the court must transmit the pleadings and papers therein to the court to which it is transferred. The costs and fees therefor and filing the papers anew must be paid by the party at whose instance the order was made; provided, that when such order is made for the reason that the cause was commenced in the wrong county, the costs of transfer and filing the papers anew shall be paid by the plaintiff in the action within ten days after making of such order, or said cause shall be dismissed for want of jurisdiction. The court to which an action or proceeding is transferred shall have and exercise the same jurisdiction as if it had been originally commenced therein.”

This section was taken from the California Code Art. No. 399, (25 Cal. Jur. Pr. Art. 45 page 913.) And the time for appeal is the statutory time to appeal any judgment, which in our case is one month, as determined in the matter of Chase vs. Superior Court et al, 99 Pac. 355. Under 25 Cal. Jur. Article 50 page 918, we have:

“APPEAL AS STAY:—Under Section 949 of the Code of Civil Procedure an appeal from an order refusing to change the place of trial, or from an order changing the place of trial, does not operate to stay proceedings in the lower court. But inasmuch as an appellate court has authority to make all orders or judgments necessary to render effectual its judgment on appeal from an order denying the change, upon a reversal of such an order it may reverse a judgment rendered in the case by the lower court, although the appellant may have appeared at the trial and contested the right of the respondent to recover.”

In other words Mr. Young cites certain rules where judgments must be signed by the judge and filed with the clerk and certain rules defining a judgment, but he failed to cite Rule 73A which is as follows:

“When an appeal is permitted from a District Court to the Supreme Court, the time in which an appeal may be taken shall be one month from the entry of the judgment appealed from unless a shorter time is provided by law, - - - ”

Then again on the question of appeal, in 25 Cal. Jur. Art. 51 page 918:

“REVIEW ON APPEAL:—All presumptions upon appeal are in favor of an order changing the place of trial. It follows that where the motion was made upon two grounds, one of which is sufficient to sustain the action of the court in granting the motion, the order will not be disturbed. And, in accordance with the general rule that the action of a trial court will be upheld where there is substantial evidence to support it, it is held that an order based upon conflicting affidavits, either in granting or refusing a change of venue, will not be disturbed. When the affidavits are conflicting those in favor of the prevailing party will be taken as true, and the facts stated therein will be considered as established; and if a rational inference can be drawn in favor of the course pursued by the lower court, its action will be affirmed.

If the plaintiff in the lower court presses the action for trial, although the defendant claims that the case is one which, under the constitution, should have been commenced in another county, he cannot successfully contend on appeal that the superior court of the county where the action was tried did not have jurisdiction.”

See the many cases cited thereunder.

It appears to the writer that Mr. Young takes this attitude in his attempt to oppose the order asking for a change of venue: That rather than appeal from that order he would go to trial without further objection and run his chance on trying to be successful. If he failed then he would drop back and say that the court did not have a right to hear the case, even though he submitted himself to its jurisdiction. And even though the statute under which he is proceeding says (Sec. 78-13-11 Utah Code Annotated 1953):

ferred shall have and exercise the same jurisdiction as if it had been originally commenced therein."

"The court to which an action or proceeding is transferred. Then the question comes up, "Can he do this?" There is a Kansas case in point being *City of Garden City vs. Heller* Sup. Court of Kansas, May 5, 1900. 60 Pac. 1060. This case was begun in Finney County of which Garden City forms a part and it was sent to Edwards County upon application for change of venue. In the right hand column page 1060 we have:

"The record does not affirmatively show that an order granting the change was made, and it is contended that the absence of a formal order defeats the jurisdiction. It does not appear that the application was made; that the files and papers in the case were thereupon transmitted to the District Court of Edwards County; that both parties appeared there, and the City submitted itself to the jurisdiction of that court; that the trial resulted in favor of the City, and the plaintiff prosecuted error and obtained a reversal. The objection that the change of venue was irregularly made came after all these steps, and was too late. While the record is silent as to the ordering of a change, "all presumptions from silence on the part of the record should be construed in favor of the regularity and validity of the proceeding of the court, and not against the regularity and validity of such proceedings." *Hunters Adm'R vs. Fergusons Adm'R* 13 Kansas 462). However, it is not necessary to rest the decision of the point upon mere presumption. When the change was made the defendant did not make a timely objection, but, instead recognized the validity of the proceedings in obtaining a change, and fully submitted itself to the jurisdiction of the court. The City asked and obtained a favorable judgment without protest or objection, and must be held to have waived the irregularity, or any question as to the proper transfer of the case." See cases cited therein.

In *Otero Canal Company vs. Fosdick*, a Colorado case found in 39 Pac. 332, where a question of change of venue came up, and on page 333 in the lower right hand column we find:

"It is, however, entirely unnecessary for us to consider the question as to whether or not the County Court erred in changing the venue to the District Court. It is sufficient, for the purpose of this case, to know that the parties entered a general appearance in the District Court, filed amended pleadings and proceeded to trial without objection, - - - "

In the matter of the J. J. Mayou Manufacturing Company vs. Consumers Oil and Refining Co., a Wyoming case found in 146 Pac. 2d 738. The action was brought in one county and plaintiff filed a motion to take the case to another county. The court ordered the change, but the clerk sent only certified copies of the proceedings. The case was tried and no objection was made to the jurisdiction of the court until on appeal. They had a statute similar to ours which stated that after the papers were transferred and filed the court had the same jurisdiction as if originally filed in that court. (See the right hand column page 750) The court held any irregularities were waived by the appearance without objection and then going to the trial. Numerous other cases are cited therein.

There is also the recent case of Daiki Otsuka vs. Balanque et al, a California case 208 P. 2d 65, which were appeals from the order denying the motion for a change of venue. This case is cited to show that the granting of a change of venue is an order which is appealable, and the time at which the appeal commences to run is the same as on any other appeal, to-wit: one month.

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